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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, X

07 Civ. K )
V.
COMPLAINT

MELVYN C. GOLDSTEIN,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) alleges the following

against defendant Melvyn C. Goldstein (“Goldsfein”):
SUMMARY

1. This action involves Goldstein’s unlawful insider trading in the securities of Del
Laboratories, Inc. (“Del”), while in possession of material non-public information, one week
prior to the announcement on July 2, 2004, that Kelso & Co. (“Kelso”) and Church & Dwight,
Iné. (“C&D”) had reached a deﬁnifive agreement to acquire Del. At the time, Goldstein was a
consultant for Del in its Finance Department and previously had been Del’s Chief Financial

Officer (“CFQ”) for sixteen years. Goldstein learned that Del was in sales negotiations and



would soon announce its plans to be acquired, based on information he was told and observed
while working at Del as a consultant. Through conversations with several Del employees and his
observation of the unusual flurry of activity at Del, Goldstein concluded that the acquisition was
imminént.

2. Goldstein started purchasing Del shares on the very day the final price of the
acquisition was being negotiated. In total, Goldstein purchased 9,400 shares of Del prior to the
acquisition announcement. Goldstein purchased the majority of these Del shares through an
account in his wife’s name, something he had never done before.

3.. After the acquisition announcement, Del’s shares closed signiﬁcéntly higher,
jumping from $30.17 on July 1, 2004, to $34.51 on July 2, 2004, the date of the announcement, a
12% increase. By trading in advance of fhe public announcement of the acquisition agreement,
Goldstein stood to profit by $38,308.

4, Goldstein .knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that information about the Del
acquisition was material and non-public. In addition, Goldstein knew, or was reckless in not
knowing, that he had a duty to refrain from trading in Del stock based on the information he
learned while working as a consultant for Del. |

VIOLATIONS

5. By virtue of the cvonduct alleged herein, Goldstein has engaged, directly or
indirectly, singly or in concert, in transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business that
cons_titute violatiohs of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15
U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] tﬁereunder. Unless Goldstein is

permanently enjoined and restrained, he will engage again in the transactions, acts, practices and



courses of business set forth in this Complaint and in transactions, acts, practices and courses of
business of similar type and object.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Commission brings this action pursuant to its authority under Section 21(d)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)], seeking é judgment: (a) permanently enjoining
Goldstein from engaging in the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in
this Complaint; (b) ordering Goldstein to disgorge his illicit profit and pre-judgment inferest
thereon; (c) imposing a civil penalty against Goldstein pursuant to Section 21 A of the Exchange
Act[15 U.S.C. § 78u-1]; (d) imposing an officer and director bar, prohibiting Goldstein from
acting as an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781] or that is required to file reports pursuant to
Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act {15 U.S.C. § 780(d)], pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)]; and (e) ordering such other relief as the Court may deem
appropriate.

7. Goldstein, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, made use of the means or
instruments of transportation or communication in, or the means or instrumentalities of, interstate
commerce, or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection

-with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein. Certain of the
relevant conduct, transactipns, acts, practices, and courses of business occurred in the Southern
District of New York. Specifically, during the time of the conduct at issue, shares of Del were
traded on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX”), an electronic stock market located in the

Southemn District of New York. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over this action, and



venue is proper in this district, pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e), 21A, and 27 of the Exchange
“Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), 78u-1, and 78aa).

THE DEFENDANT

8. Goldstein, age 66, is a resident of Fort Salonga, New York. He was the CFO of
Del from 1982 until his retirement from Del at the end of 1997. Goldstein was also a consultant
for Del from June 1999 through the end of June 2004, on a near quarterly basis.

RELEVANT ENTITIES

9. Del, a Delaware corporation, operated in two business ségments — cosmetics and
overéthe—coﬁnter pharmaceuticals — and reported 2003 sales of $386 million. Among Del’s
product lines were Sally Hansen, LaCross, and Orajel. During the time of the events alleged
herein, the common stock of Del was registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b)
of the Exchange Act and traded on the AMEX under the symbol “DLI”. After the acquisition by
Kelso, Del ceased to be traded. |

10.  Kelso, a New York based private equity firm, announced its agreemeht with
C & D and Del to acquire Del on July 2, 2004. Subsequently, on January 27, 2005, Kelso,
through a wholly-owned holding company, acquired Del. |

11. C&D, a New Jersey based corporation, is a consumer products company which
makeé, among other things, Arm & Hammer baking soda. C&D along with Kelso was party to
the July 2, 2004, agreement to acquire Del. Subsequently, C&D withdrew from the acquisition

agreement leaving Kelso to purchase Del alone.



FACTS
Background
'12.  Beginning in or about June 1999, Goldstein, who had retired as Del’s CFO in
1997, returned to Del as a consultant in Del’s Finance Department, working in Del’s offices on
almost a quarterly basis near the end of the quarter for one to two weeks at a time. Goldstein
was paid, as a consultant, to assist Del’s Finance Department with the accounting of Del’s
accounts receivables.

13. While working as a consultant, Goldstein was supervised by Del’s manager of
accounts receivable and charge-backs and Del’s comptroller, and occasionally met with Del’s
CFO to discuss Goldstein’s projects. During the peﬁod at issue, Goldstein’s work station was
located in Del’s Finance Department, around the corner from the secretary and administrative
assistant for Del’s CFO at the time of the acquisition. The secretary and administrative assistant
for Del’s CFO sat across from Del’s CFO and had formerly been Goldstein’s secretary and
administrative assistant. In addition, Goldstein, by virtue 6f having been Del’s CFO, was very
familiar with the work and operations of the Finance Department.

14. Goldstein owed a duty of loyalty to Del, which duty required him to maintain
Del’s confidences, and not to use, for personal gain, any material non-public information
concerning Del. At the time of the conduct at issue, Del had a confidentiality policy in place that
applied to consultants working within Del’s Finance Department, including Goldstein. Goldstein
was aware of Del’s confidentiality policy, having formerly been Del’s CFO and having enforced

the policy himself.



A Definitive Acquisition Agreement Is Reached Between Del, Kelso and C&D

15. In September 2003, Del retained a financial advisor to, among other things,
analyze the sale of Del as a means to maximize shareholder value. Between Sentember 2003 and
- May 2004, Del’s financial advisor contacted several third parties to solicit their interest in a
possible acquisition of Del.

16. In late March 2004, after having obtained a confidentiality agreement, Del’s
financial advisor provided confidential financial information concerning Del to C&D, which had
earlier indicated an interest in acquiring Del with Kelso. On June 1, 2004, Del delivered a draft
merger agreement to Kelso and C&D, who together, provided a detailed markup of the proposed
agreement to Del on June 15, 2004. On June 22, 2004, Kelso and C&D provided Dél with a
written, non-binding proposal to acquire Del.

17. On June 23, 24, and 25, Kelso, C&D and Del negotiated the price per share
contemplated in the acquisition agreement. Following a telephonic meeting between Del
principals on June 25, to consider Kelso’s revised proposail, Del continued negotiations with
Kelso and C&D regarding the terms and conditions of a definitive agreement. Later that date,
Kelso and C&D submitted a binding proposal to buy all of Del’s shares for $35.00 per share.

18. From June 25, 2004, through July 1, 2004, representatives of Del, Kelso and
C&D negotiated the remaining terms of the merger agreement, which the parties executed on the
| evening -of July 1, 2004, and announced publicly on July 2, 2004. Under the terms of the
agreement, Kelso and C&D, through a jointly formed holding company, were to acquire all
outstanding shares of Del at a price of $35.00 per share, subject to shareholder approval.

19.  Following the public announcement, but prior to the shareholder vote, C&D

withdrew from the acquisition, leaving Kelso to acquire Del on its own.



20.  The acquisition negotiations were highly confidential, and the transaction was not
disclosed to the public at any time prior to the July 2, 2004 announcement.

Goldstein Learhs that Del Was Negotiating its Acquisition

21. On or before June 25, 2004, Goldstein obtained confidential information about the
pending acquisition of Del by Kelso and C&D.

22. While at Del’s offices on June 23 and June 25, 2004, for the purpose of
performing consulting services, Goldstein had conversations with several clerks and staff of
Del’s Finance Department, including the secretary and assistant to Del’s CFO at the time of the
conduct at issue, in which each indicated to Goldstein that he or she believed that Del was in
negotiations to sell the company and that a deal for its acquisition would soon be announced.
Goldstein became aware, through these conversations, that these and other Del employees were
concerned that they would lose tﬁeir jobs as a result of the acquisition, that auditors were doing
work in Del’s offices that was not routine, that outside auditors were coming to Del, and that Del
had been working with a financial advisor. Further, while working as a consultant at Del on
those dates, Goldstein became aware that internal rumors of the company’s impending
acquisition were rampant and intense, that people were talking in the halls about the impending
acquisition, and that senior officials at Del refused to comment on the rumors.

23.  Following Goldstein’s conversations with the Finance Department’s clerks and
staff discussed above, on June 25, 2004, while visiting the cafeteria in Del’s office building,
Goldstein was approached by a Del mid-level marketing manager who asked Goldstein if he was
in the offices “to sign papers for the sale.” Goldstein acknowledged that as a result, he

concluded that the merger “might have been pretty imminent.”



24. Moreover, on June 23 and 25, while Goldstein was in Del’s offices, there was a
significant increase in activity in Del’s Finance Department.

1. On June 23, there was a flurry of activity as the Del representatives discussed
with Del’s financial advisor the initial price offered by Kelso and C&D, which
Del rejected. This activity included numerous calls from Del’s financial advisor
to Del’s CFO and others, which conversations took place behind closed doors. In
fact, despite Del’s usual open door policy, during these days, Del’s CFO had his
door closed frequently.

2. On June 25, the same Del representatives held a telephonic meeting to consider
Kelso and C&D’s revised proposal. Following this discussion, Del’s CFO and the
other Del representatives conducted another series of phone calls and conferences
with its financial advisor, while the financial and legal advisors continued
negotiations with Kelso and C&D regarding the terms and conditions of the
definitive acquisition agreement, including the completion of remaining due
diligence. Later that day, Kelso and C&D submitted their binding proposal to

acquire 100% of the outstanding shares of Del common stock at $35.00 per share.

25.  Amid the flurry of activity and numerous phone calls that took place on June 23
and June 25, Goldstein approached Del’s CFO to discuss the acquisition rumors as well as
Goldstein’s perception that employee morale was low in light of the anticipated sale. While
Del’s CFO denied that a final deal had been reached, by the way the CFO responded to Goldstein
combined with the unusual activity he observed in Del’s offices, Goldstein concluded that Del

was in fact going to be acquired and that the acquisition was imminent.



Goldstein Trades in Del

26. On the afternoon of June 25, 2004, after Goldstein had returned home from Del’s
offices, Goldstein placed an order to purchase 4,400 shares of Del in his two retirement accounts
and 5,000 shares of Del in an account in the name of his wife.

27. Prior to his purchases on June 25, 2004, Goldstein had purchased no more than a
few hundred shares of Del in any of his brokerage accounts and had never traded in his wife’s
account.

28.  When he placed the order in his wife’s account, Goldstein had a conversation with
his wife’s broker in which the broker, concemned about the suspicious trading activity, asked
Goldstein whether Goldstein worked for Del and whether Goldstein had any inside information.
Goldstein responded “no” to both questions. Goldstein also failed to tell his wife’s broker that
he had formerly been Del’s CFO, that he was working as a consﬁltant for Del, iand that he had

. been working at Del’s offices that very afternoon.

29.  Because Del stock was thinly traded, Goldstein’s trades in his wife’s account
were placed through daily limit orders and purchased as follows: 1,600 shares at $30.31 on June
25, 2004, 200 shares at $30.35 on June 28, 2004, 3,200 shares on June 29, 2004, in three
different lots — 1,200 shares at $30.75, 1,000 Shares at $30.65_and another 1,000 shares at $30.65.
iGoldstein paid for these shares by wire transferring $49,000 on June 29, 2004, and $105,200 on
June 30, 2004, from his personal checking account to his wife’s brokerage account.

30. At the time of the transactions and events described herein, Goldstein had a
fiduciary duty, or other duty arising out of a relationship of trust and confidence, to keep

confidential the information he obtained in the course of his employment as a consultant in Del’s



Finance Department, about, among other things Del’s negotiations to be acquired. In addition,
Goldstein had a fiduciary duty, or other duty arising out of a relationship of trust and confidence,
to refrain from using for his own advantage or benefit information he obtained during the course
of his work as a consultant for Del.

31. By virtue of the facts and conduct described above in paragraphs 12 to 30,
Goldstein breached a fiduciary duty> or other duty arising out of a relationship of trust and
confidence, he owed to Del.

Goldstein’s Trading Profits

32. Between June 25, 2004, and June 29, 2004, Goldstein purchased 9,400 shéres of
Del (including the shares purchased in his wife’s account), at an average price of $30.43, for a
total purchase price of $286,086. On July 2, 2004, Del publicly announced the proposed
acquisition by Kelso and C&D for $35 per share; Del’s stock rose to .a high of $34.60, and ;:losed

at $34.51, resulting in a paper profit to Goldstein of $38,308.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF -

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5

33.  The Commission repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1
through 32 by reference as if fully set forth herein.

34.  QGoldstein, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, knowingly or reckiessly, by |
the use of the meéns or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or by the use of thé mails, or of
any facility or national securities exchange, in connection with the purchase of Del securities:

(a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means

of, or otherwise made, untrue statements of matetial fact, or omitted to state material facts

10



necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circufnstances under which
they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in transactions, acts, practices, and courses of
business which operated or would have operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of Del
securities and upon other persons.

35. On or before June 25, 2004, Goldstein obtained material, nonpublic information
that Del was going to be acquired imminently.

36. While in possession of material, nonpublic information that Del was going to be
acquired imminently, Goldstein placed orders to purchase Del securities on June 25, 2004.

37. By purchasing Del securities on J une 25, 2004, Goldstein breached a fiduciary
duty, or other duty arising out of a relationship of trust and confidence, that he owed to Del.

38. When Goldstein purchased Del securities on June 25, 2004, Goldstein knew or
was reckless in not knowing that he possessed confidential information regarding Del’s pending
acquisition, and he knew or recklessly disregarded that his purchase of Del securities constituted
a bfeach ofa ﬁduciary'duty, or other duty arising out of a relationship of trust and confidence,
that he owed to Del.

| 39. By reason of the foregoing, Goldstein, directly or indirectly, singiy or in concert,

violated and, unless permanently enjoined, will again violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act

[15U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder.

RELIEF SOUGHT
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court issue a

Final Judgment:

11



L
Permanently enjoining Goldstein, his agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all
persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the injunction
by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from future violations of Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)], and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder;
II.
Ordering Goldstein to disgofge the ill-gotten gains he derived from the purchase of Del
securities in violation‘ of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)], and Rule 10b-5
[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder, and to pay prejudgment interest thereon;
II1.
Ordering Goldstein to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 21(d) and 21A of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3) and § 78u-1]; and
Iv.
Ordering that Goldstein be barred from acting as an officer or director of a public

company pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)]; and

12



V.

Granting such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and proper.

Dated: New York, New York
March 14, 2007

Of Counsel:

David Rosenfeld
David A. Markowitz
Lee S. Bickley
Cynthia A. Matthews

Mark K. Schonfeld (MS-2798)

Attorney for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Northeast Regional Office

3 World Financial Center

New York, New York 10281

(212) 336-1020
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